

City Planner

CITY OF CONCORD New Hampshire's Main Street[™] Zoning Board of Adjustment

April 2, 2025 MEETING MINUTES

- Attendees: Alternate Mark Davie, Member James Monahan, Alternate Brenda Perkins, Member Laura Spector-Morgan, Acting Chair Nicholas Wallner, and Member Andrew Winters
- Absent: Chair Christopher Carley
- Staff: AnneMarie Skinner, AICP, City Planner Krista Tremblay, Administrative Technician III

1. Call to order Acting Chair Wallner called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.

2. Chairperson's comments

3. Public meetings

4. Public hearings

4.1 Orr & Reno, on behalf of Granite Center, LLC, requests approval for a variance from Section 28-4-1(e) Maximum Lot Coverage/Section 28-4-1(h) Table of Dimensional Regulations, to permit 89.3% of lot coverage where 85% is the maximum allowed, at Tax Map Lot 6442Z 6, unaddressed Storrs St, in the Opportunity Corridor Performance (OCP) District. Not a development of regional impact. (ZBA 0255-2025)

Acting Chair Wallner asked for Alternate Member Perkins to sit in on this case.

John Arnold (45 S Main St, Concord) is present to represent this application. Mr. Arnold stated that the application relates to the parking lot that is just behind the legislative parking garage. It is a surface lot on the side of Storrs St by the railroad tracks. The parking lot comprises two separate legal lots. The northerly portion is owned by Granite Center, LLC. The southerly portion is owned by the New Hampshire Historical Society. Granite Center, LLC leases the part of the parking lot it does not own from the New Hampshire Historical Society, and the lots operate as one cohesive parking lot. Mr. Arnold stated Mr. Duprey is looking to do a lot line adjustment with the Historical to shift the dividing lot line to the south by 130 feet. Mr. Arnold stated that would add a half an acre of the parking lot from the New Hampshire Historical Society portion to Mr. Duprey's portion (Granite Center, LLC) of the property in the north. There are no physical changes proposed. The parking lot will continue to exist exactly the way it does now. It is just a shift of the lot line. The property is in the Opportunity Performance (OPD) District and in that district the maximum lot coverage is 85%. Mr. Arnold noted both of the lots today are nonconforming in terms of lot coverage. The Granite Center, LLC lot has 87%

and the Historical Society lot has 85%. Mr. Arnold stated with the lot line adjustment they are not adding any impervious surface. The lot coverage calculations for each lot will change slightly because the lot areas are changing. Mr. Arnold noted what this results in the lot coverage on Granite Center, LLC going up to 89.3 % and the Historical Society going down to 86.5%. They are asking for a variance on the Granite Center, LLC side with the increase in lot coverage. The Historical Society side will still be over the 85% maximum but that is decreasing. Mr. Arnold noted this is just a change in a line on paper. There is no actual increase to the impervious surface. The parking lot will remain the way it is in terms of function and appearance. The variance does not create a risk for more lot coverage in the future because both of the lots are nonconforming.

Acting Chair Wallner noted this is a minor lot line adjustment, dealing with less than 3%.

Mr. Arnold stated Granite Center, LLC goes from 87% to 89% and the Historical Society decreases from 88% to 86.5%.

Member Monahan asked if this will change the entry to the parking lot.

Mr. Arnold stated no, there are no proposed changes now.

Acting Chair Wallner asked if there is any member of the audience that would like to speak in favor of this application, or anyone opposed. With no member of the audience wishing to speak on this application, staff was asked for comments. Ms. Skinner had no comments. Acting Chair Wallner closed the public hearing and looked for discussion from the Board.

Alternate Member Perkins did not see any issue with the application.

Member Spector-Morgan stated they are moving a line on a plan and there is nothing changing on the ground.

Member Winters stated it is extremely minor.

Member Monahan stated the lot coverage change is a wash.

Member Winters made a motion to grant the variance from Section 28-4-1(e) Maximum Lot *Coverage*/Section 28-4-1(h) *Table of Dimensional Regulations*, to permit 89.3% of lot coverage at Tax Map Lot 6642Z 6, unaddressed Storrs St, where 85% is the maximum allowed, because all of the criteria under RSA 674:33 have been met based on the record before the Board, and the Board adopted the applicant's findings as the Board's findings of fact. Member Spector-Morgan Seconded. The motion passed with 5 in favor (Monahan, Perkins, Spector-Morgan, Wallner, and Winters) to 0 opposed.

Findings of Fact:

1. The variance will not be contrary to the public interest. "A variance is contrary to the public interest if "it unduly and in a marked degree conflicts with an ordinance such tht it violates the ordinance's basic zoning objectives." Farrar v. City of Keene, 158 N.H. 684, 691 (2009) (internal quotations omitted). In determining whether a variance would violate basic zoning objectives, the Board should examine whether the variance would alter the essential character of the locality, or whether the granting of the variance would threaten public health, safety, or welfare. Id. Here, allowing the increased lot coverage on Lot 6 will pose no threat to the public safety, health or welfare, or alter the essential character of the locality. The parking lot functions as a cohesive use, even though it is bisected by a lot line. No impervious coverage is being proposed. The increased lot coverage on Lot 6 results solely from shifting the lot line further to the south within the existing parking lot. The function, appearance, and overall lot coverage of the two lots comprising the parking lot will remain the same."

- 2. The spirit of the ordinance is observed by granting the variance. "The New Hampshire Supreme Court has determined that the requirement that a variance not be contrary to the public interest "is co-extensive and related to the requirement that a variance be consistent with the spirit of the ordinance." Chester Rod & Gun Club v. Town of Chester, 152 NH 577, 580 (2005). As such, this criterion overlaps with the public interest requirement. For the reasons set forth above, the spirit of the ordinance will be observed. The primary reason for the variance is to allow Granite Center to own, rather than lease, a larger portion of the existing parking lot. The only change will be on paper."
- 3. Substantial justice will be done by granting the variance. "Substantial justice is done where granting a variance will not cause harm to the general public that outweighs the benefit to the applicant. See Malachy Glen Associates v. Town of Chichester, 155 N.H. 102, 109 (2007). That is the case here, as allowing these variances would cause no harm to the general public. Because the existing parking lot will remain unchanged, the public will not be impacted by the variance. Further, although the lot coverage will increase slightly on Lot 6, it will be reduced on Lot 7. As such, there will be no net change in the overall lot coverage for the existing parking lot. If the parking lot were removed for a new development at some point in the future, the new development on either lot would have to comply with the District's 85% maximum. In that sense, granting this variance does not create any more lot coverage."
- 4. *The values of surrounding properties will not be diminished.* "Granting this variance will not diminish surrounding property values, for the same reasons cited above. The chnages will solely be on paper with the shift of the lot line. To the surrounding observer, there will be no change whatsoever."
- 5. Denial of the variance would result in unnecessary hardship because: "The Property is unique in that it is one of two lots comprising an existing parking lot. The existing lot coverage for each of those two lots, and for the parking lot as a whole, is nonconforming. The existing lot line bisects the parking lot, yet the parking lot is cohesive, and is leased and operated by a single entity. Shifting the dividing lot line further to the south allows Granite Center to own, rather than lease, a larger portion of the parking lot, but does not result in any physical change to the Property, or its use. The overall lot coverage for the Property does not change, and the proposed increase on Lot 6 is offset by the decrease on Lot 7. There is no substantial relationship between the limit on lot coverage and its specific application to this property because the overall lot coverage for the Property will not increase. Denying the variance would prevent Mr. Duprey from owning, rather than leasing, a portion of the parking lot, and would serve no general public purpose. Accordingly, the proposed use and variance request are reasonable."
- 4.2 Zachary J. Letourneau, on behalf of McCarthy Family Trust of 2021, requests approval for a variance from Section 28-4-1(c) *Minimum Lot Frontage*/Section 28-4-1(h) *Table of Dimensional Regulations*, to permit 150 feet of lot frontage for a new lot where 200 feet is the minimum requirement, at Tax Map Lot 92Z 4, addressed as 227 Garvins Falls Rd, in the Medium Density Residential (RM) District and the Open Space Residential (RO) District. Not a development of regional impact. (ZBA 0256-2025)

Acting Chair Wallner asked Alternate Member Mark Davie to sit in on this case.

Zachary Letourneau (253 Page Rd, Dublin) and Kevin McCarthy (227 Garvins Falls Rd, Concord) are present to represent this application. Mr. Letourneau thanked the City of Concord as they were very helpful during this entire process. Mr. Letourneau stated the only box that cannot be checked is road frontage. Mr. Letourneau called attention to the submitted findings of fact on the first page of the addendum document. Mr. Letourneau listed out 10 different locations in the neighborhood. Some are abutters and some are not. Only three of them are conforming. It would not change the nature or

disposition of the neighborhood in any way. Mr. Letourneau stated they want to put a single-family house on the subdivided lot.

Acting Chair Wallner asked for them to touch on the hardship.

Mr. Letourneau read out loud the variance criteria submitted with the application materials that was included in the packet to the Board.

Acting Chair Wallner asked if the Board had questions.

Member Spector-Morgan asked for the lot frontage.

Mr. Letourneau answer 150 feet.

Member Spector-Morgan asked for the total frontage.

Mr. Letourneau stated the line itself would not be straight, but it would not be the required 200 based on the contour of the land.

Member Winters asked if they have a diagram of the new lot line.

Ms. Skinner stated there is a total of 356 feet of lot frontage right now, so the existing house lot will have 200 and the new lot will have the remaining 156.

Member Winters clarified the split zoning of RM and RO and the origination of the 200 feet of frontage requirement.

Ms. Skinner stated that both the RM and RO districts require 200 feet of frontage, and because the new lot is total in the RM District, all of the RM requirements would have applied if the requirement was different between RM and RO.

Member Winters asked if it is a large enough lot for two lots.

Mr. McCarthy stated yes.

Mr. Letourneau further explained that, in order for them to remain in conforming with the driveway distance requirement and keep the existing house lot in conformance with lot frontage, the new lot will be less.

Alternate Member Perkins stated if they moved the lot line, then they would have two nonconforming lots.

Mr. Letourneau stated that is correct.

Acting Chair Wallner asked if there is any member of the audience that would like to speak in favor of or in opposition to the application, and asked staff for any comment. Ms. Skinner had no comments. Acting Chair Wallner closed the public hearing and looked for discussion from the Board.

Member Spector-Morgan stated she has no concerns about it. It will not alter the character of the neighborhood. It appears to be 50 feet short of frontage. There will be safe access to the lot. It appears to be consistent with the surrounding lots. There is no gain to the public in denying the variance. It will not reduce surrounding property values. It is a unique-ish lot and she can get there on the hardship.

Alternate Member Davie stated he agreed with all the above. The applicant has made the case that

either one or both lots would be nonconforming.

Member Winters stated he struggles with the frontage in general. They already have setback requirements and maximum lot coverage requirements, so it does not seem like the frontage requirements serve any further purpose in terms of open space. Member Winters noted they are primarily about access to the lot, in which case 200 feet seems like a lot. In this case he does not think the additional frontage while all of the other requirements are met serves any other functional purpose. It will still be in keeping with the character of the neighborhood.

Member Monahan stated he has nothing to add.

Acting Chair Wallner stated he agrees.

Member Spector-Morgan made a motion to **grant the variance from Section 28-4-1(c)** *Minimum Lot Frontage/*Section 28-4-1(h) *Table of Dimensional Regulations*, to allow for frontage of 150 feet where 200 feet is required, at 227 Garvins Falls Rd, because all of the criteria under RSA 674:33 have been met based on the record before the Board, and the Board adopted the applicant's proposed findings as the Board's findings of fact. Alternate Member Davie seconded. The motion passed with 5 in favor (Davie, Monahan, Spector-Morgan, Wallner, and Winters) to 0 opposed.

Findings of Fact:

- 1. The variance will not be contrary to the public interest. "Granting the requested variance aligns with the public interest by maintaining the established character of the Garvins Falls Road neighborhood. The proposed subdivision reflects the existing pattern of development, where several abutting properties also have frontage slightly below the 200-foot requirement. This consistency ensures that the essential character of the locality remains unchanged. For further review & comprehension, the proposed lot would have approximately 150 ft of frontage based on surveyors estimates. There are 9 abutters, the avg frontage for all is: 162 feet. Of those same 9 abutters, 6 are non-conforming. House 228 has 120 ft House 225 has 180 ft House 222 has 75 ft House 220 has 75 ft House 218 has 100 ft House 241 has 146 ft House 219 has 320 ft House 233 has 301 ft House 241 has 146 ft The subdivision will not introduce additional traffic congestion or compromise traffic safety. The creation of a single additional lot for the purposes of constructing a single family dwelling is a minimal change that will not significantly impact the current traffic flow. Moreover, the proposed use is residential, which is harmonious with the existing uses in the area and does not pose any public safety concerns. Furthermore, the development of the new lot will contribute positively to the community by providing an additional housing opportunity, addressing the ongoing need for residential options within the city. This development utilizes the land efficiently without altering the neighborhood's character and disposition or overburdening public infrastructure."
- 2. The spirit of the ordinance is observed by granting the variance. "The spirit of the zoning ordinance is to ensure orderly development that preserves the character of neighborhoods, prevents overcrowding, and provides adequate space for residents. While the ordinance stipulates a 200-foot frontage requirement, the slight deficiency in frontage for the proposed subdivision does not undermine these objectives. The proposed lot sizes—5 acres and 1 acre— exceed the minimum lot size requirements, ensuring ample space for residential use and maintaining low-density development. The variance sought is minimal and consistent with the existing frontage of neighboring properties, thereby fitting within the essential character of the neighborhood. Granting this variance will not negatively impact abutters or the public. Instead, it will allow for a development that is in harmony with the surrounding properties, providing a public benefit by enhancing the neighborhood with an additional well-planned residence."

- 3. Substantial justice will be done by granting the variance. "Granting the variance balances the property owner's reasonable use of their land with the public's interest in maintaining the neighborhood's character. The proposed subdivision is consistent with the area's current residential use, where similar lot frontages exist. The benefit to the property owner is significant, allowing for the productive use of their land through the creation of an additional lot. This benefit outweighs any negligible impact on the public, as the subdivision aligns with existing neighborhood patterns and does not introduce any adverse effects."
- 4. The values of surrounding properties will not be diminished. "The proposed subdivision is designed to be in harmony with the existing neighborhood, featuring lot sizes and frontages comparable to adjacent properties. Every detail since the beginning of the project, from lot line delineation & driveway location to environmental impact adheres to the common principle of low-impact and high yield neighborhood benefit. This consistency ensures that the new development will blend seamlessly into the community. Once the variance has been sufficiently granted, adequate buffers and setbacks for septic, well, and building location will be maintained, preserving the privacy and enjoyment of abutting properties. The introduction of a new, well-designed residence is likely to enhance the overall appeal of the area, potentially increasing property values. There is no evidence to suggest that the variance would interfere with the use or enjoyment of surrounding properties.."
- 5. Denial of the variance would result in unnecessary hardship because: "No fair and substantial relationship exists between the general public purposes of the ordinance provision and the specific application of that provision to the property; and The general purpose of the 200-foot frontage requirement is to ensure adequate access, spacing between properties, and maintenance of neighborhood character. In this case, the property's slight deficiency in frontage does not impede access or alter the neighborhood's character, as evidenced by the similar frontages of abutting properties. Strict application of the frontage requirement in this instance does not serve its intended purpose and imposes an unnecessary limitation on the property's use. ii. The proposed use is reasonable. The proposed subdivision results in lot sizes of 5 acres and 1 acre, both of which are suitable for residential use and exceed the minimum lot size requirements. The slight shortfall in frontage is consistent with neighboring properties, making the proposed use reasonable, prudent, and appropriate for the area.

The property's unique condition—a slight deficiency in road frontage compared to the 200-foot requirement—distinguishes it from other properties. Strict conformance with the ordinance would prevent the reasonable subdivision of the land, limiting its use and potential. Therefore, granting the variance is necessary to enable a reasonable and prudent use of the property that is in line with the neighborhood's established development pattern and the goals and objectives sought by the general consensus of the public in order to mitigate the lack of housing in the State of New Hampshire.

The Property is Functionally Unusable for a Reasonable Subdivision Without the Variance • The intent of zoning regulations is to allow for reasonable and productive land use while maintaining orderly development. • Without the variance, the property owner is effectively prevented from subdividing and selling the 1-acre parcel, despite having more than sufficient acreage to do so. • The property is currently overly restricted compared to its neighbors, who have been able to develop similarly sized lots despite not meeting the exact 200-foot frontage requirement. Counterargument to potential opposition: The slight deficiency in frontage does not alter the neighborhood character or obstruct any zoning objective. Denying this variance places an unfair burden on the property owner by arbitrarily restricting development opportunities.

• The property's road frontage is just shy of the 200-foot requirement, making it a minor technical issue rather than a substantive zoning violation. • The owner did not create this

limitation—the land was originally subdivided or shaped in such a way that achieving full compliance is not feasible without an extreme and unreasonable burden. • Unlike voluntary hardships (e.g., buying an undersized lot and then requesting a variance), this hardship is inherent to the land itself and is not the result of the owner's choices or actions. Counterargument to potential opposition: Since zoning variances exist specifically to address hardships arising from unique land conditions, it would be inappropriate to deny relief in a situation where the hardship is imposed by historical property configurations rather than by the owner's decisions.

The Denial Would Result in an Economic Hardship Without Any Public Benefit • The inability to subdivide and sell the 1-acre parcel significantly reduces the economic utility of the land, limiting its value and usability. • The city gains nothing by enforcing a rigid, numerical requirement in this case—no public safety, environmental, or aesthetic benefit results from denying the variance. • The property owner suffers an unnecessary financial loss due to an arbitrary technicality, while granting the variance would allow for a reasonable use that aligns with the neighborhood. Counterargument to potential opposition: Zoning laws should balance public interest with individual property rights. If the general public gains no discernible benefit from strict enforcement of the ordinance in this case, then the property owner should not be forced to endure financial hardship.

The Proposed Subdivision Aligns with Precedent in the Neighborhood • Five other properties in the immediate area are also non-conforming with regard to frontage, proving that the 200foot requirement is not a rigid or consistently applied standard. • Denying this variance would create an unfair and unequal standard, where some properties are allowed to remain nonconforming while a new subdivision is arbitrarily denied. • If the city has allowed similar properties to exist without issue, there is no legitimate basis to deny the variance in this case. Counterargument to potential opposition: If the city denies the variance despite allowing similar lot configurations nearby, it risks appearing inconsistent or arbitrary, which could lead to potential legal challenges based on unequal treatment

The Denial Would Be Contrary to the City's Interest in Promoting Reasonable Growth • Concord, like much of New Hampshire, faces a need for additional housing and responsible land development. • Allowing this subdivision would create another residential parcel in an area already designated for housing, contributing to local economic growth and tax revenue. The city's zoning ordinance was never meant to artificially suppress development but rather to guide it in a manner that preserves community character—this subdivision does exactly that. Counterargument to potential opposition: Strict adherence to zoning ordinances should not come at the expense of smart, responsible growth. Granting this variance promotes the city's long-term interest by allowing an otherwise permissible use of land. 6. Strict Compliance Would Require Unnecessary and Costly Alternatives • The only theoretical way to comply strictly with the 200-foot frontage rule would be for the owner to somehow acquire additional frontage from an abutter, which is unlikely and financially impractical. • Another alternative would be to keep the 6-acre parcel whole, preventing an efficient and beneficial land use that the city has no legitimate reason to block. • Requiring extreme measures to comply with an arbitrary frontage rule is unreasonable when a simple variance resolves the issue without causing harm. Counterargument to potential opposition: The property owner should not be forced to seek impractical solutions to meet a frontage requirement that, in this case, serves no practical zoning purpose.

In conclusion, the requested variance meets all the necessary criteria: it aligns with the public interest, observes the spirit of the ordinance, ensures substantial justice, does not diminish surrounding property values, and addresses an unnecessary hardship due to the property's unique conditions. Granting this variance will allow for a development that is harmonious with the existing neighborhood and beneficial to the community."

4.3 Northpoint Engineering, LLC, on behalf of Alec and Rachel Woods, requests approval for a variance from Section 28-4-1(d)(3) Side Yard/Section 28-4-1(h) Table of Dimensional Regulations, to permit a 2.5-foot side yard setback where 10 feet is the minimum requirement, at Tax Map Lot 6531Z 60, addressed as 64 Beacon St, in the Neighborhood Residential (RN) District. Not a development of regional impact. (ZBA 0257-2025)

Acting Chair Wallner read agenda items 4.3 and 4.4 into the record at the same time to be discussed as one.

Acting Chair Wallner asked for Alternate Member Perkins to sit in on this case.

Kevin Leonard (119 Storrs St, Ste 201, Concord) Rachel Woods (64 Beacon St, Concord) and Jeff Leonard (807 Pembroke St, Pembroke) are present to represent this application. Mr. Leonard stated they are located in the RN District. Mr. Leonard stated their lot is 3,048 square feet, or .07 acres, and is well undersized from the required lot size as are most of the lots in the area. They are on a corner. There are existing violations based on setbacks. Mr. Leonard stated there is a property diagonal to them that appears to have had a garage that was added. There is a short driveway with two parking spaces. They did have the property surveyed. The existing deck is 6.6 feet to the property line and 10 feet is the required setback. Mr. Leonard stated the deck comes out the door. They are trying to maintain the two parking spaces that exist on Charles and have a one-car garage over the footprint of the existing deck. That does require a further encroachment on the side setback. It is 3 ½ feet to the building and 2 ½ feet to the roof line. They are hoping for relief on the side setback and the lot coverage.

Mr. Leonard read out loud the variance criteria submitted with the application. Mr. Leonard showed pictures of the property. Mr. Leonard stated they had a conversation with neighbors and no one objected to the proposed plan.

Acting Chair Wallner asked if there are similar houses that have a one-car garage.

Mr. Leonard stated yes, on Beacon St there are three houses in a row.

Member Winters asked if parking is tight in this neighborhood.

Mr. Wood stated yes, if there is an event at White Park.

Acting Chair Wallner asked if there is any member of the audience that would like to speak in favor of or opposition to this application, and asked staff for comment. Ms. Skinner had no comments. Acting Chair Wallner closed the public hearing and looked for discussion from the Board.

Member Winters stated it is a reasonable use. Member Winters noted having a one-car garage in this neighborhood is a reasonable use of the property, and it gets an extra car off the street. Member Winters stated they are doing this minimal change to the density, and it does not change the character of the neighborhood.

Member Monahan stated it will create a lot more density on the lot and thinks they would have had to get approval for the deck.

Member Spector-Morgan is a yes. A garage is a reasonable use. It is increasing the lot coverage by a relatively minimal amount. It is bringing it a little closer to the property line only by four feet. It is a small lot in a densely-packed neighborhood. It will not change the character of the neighborhood. It will not impact surrounding property values. There is no gain to the public in denying it. Member Spector-Morgan stated it is all summed up in the applicant's paragraph about deviation of surrounding property

values.

Alternate Member Perkins does not see a concern, especially since it is occupying the space the deck was occupying.

Member Spector-Morgan made a motion to grant the variance from Section 28-4-1(d)(3) *Side Yard Setbacks*/Section 28-4-1(h) *Table of Dimensional Regulations*, to allow for a 2.5-foot side yard setback at 64 Beacon St where 10 feet is required, because all of the criteria under RSA 674:33 have been met based on the record before the Board, and the Board adopted the applicant's findings as the Board's findings of fact. Alternate Member Perkins seconded. The motion passed unanimously with 5 in favor (Monahan, Perkins, Spector-Morgan, Wallner, and Winters) to 0 opposed.

Findings of Fact:

- 1. *The variance will not be contrary to the public interest.* "Granting of the variances will allow for the construction of the proposed garage which will create one additional off-street parking space on the subject parcel this is not contrary to the public interest but rather in support of the public interest. There is no reason to believe that the minor encroachment into the side yward setback would have any impact on the public at large. And, the minor increase in lot coverage, of approximately 24-sf will have no material impact whatsoever on the public."
- 2. *The spirit of the ordinance is observed by granting the variance.* "Granting the variances would not alter the essential character of the neighbor by allowing a one-car garage to be constructed on the subject parcel. It would promote additional off-street parking which is directly within the spirit of the Ordinance."
- 3. *Substantial justice will be done by granting the variance.* "Granting the variances would allow the applicant to proceed with the construction of the garage which is a very appropriate and reasonable use of the land."
- 4. *The values of surrounding properties will not be diminished.* "The majority of the houses in the subject neighborhood, including the subject house, were constructed over 100 years ago before the dimensional standards of the current zoning ordinance were in effect. As a result, the majority of the existing lots in the neighborhood are substandard in terms of lot size, lot frontage, lot coverage and yard areas. It is a very dense neighborhood that does not at all fit within the current dimensional standard requirements of the zoning ordinance. In looking at just the subject lot and its four abutting parcels, the average lot size is approximately 3,500-sf, whereas the minimum lot size requirement in the RN district is 10,000-sf. None of these surrounding lots are in compliance with any of the noted dimensional requirements. The requested variances involve slight increases to existing non-conformities which will have not material impact on the surrounding properties, given the existing nature of the neighborhood."
- 5. Denial of the variance would result in unnecessary hardship because: "The subject parcel is an existing, non-conforming lot and is substandard with respect to minimum lot area, minimum lot frontage, minimum front yard, minimum side yard and maximum lot coverage. At only 3,048-sf in total lot size, it is the smallest lot in a very dense neighborhood of undersized lots. In addition, it is a corner lot which further restricts its usable yard area. For these reasons, it does stand out as unique in comparison to other properties in the area. The dimensional standards imposed by the current Ordinance on such a substandard lot that has existed for over a century creates an unnecessary hardship on the lot. The minimum required side yard setback and the maximum allowable lot coverage of the current RN district are intended to be applied to lots that have a minimum area of 10,000-sf. The subject parcel has only 30% of that minimum lot area, making it impractical and unfair to apply those same dimensional standards to it. It is clear that there is no fair and substantial relationship between the intended purpose of the Ordinance and the specific

application on the subject property in this instance, especially considering that the property has existed in harmony with surrounding properties for such a long period of time and that the proposed addition of a onecar garage is more than reasonable."

4.4 Northpoint Engineering, LLC, on behalf of Alec and Rachel Woods, requests approval for a variance from Section 28-4-1(e) *Maximum Lot Coverage*/Section 28-4-1(h) *Table of Dimensional Regulations*, to permit 63.4% of maximum lot coverage where 50% is the maximum allowed, at Tax Map Lot 6531Z 60, addressed as 64 Beacon St, in the Neighborhood Residential (RN) District. Not a development of regional impact. (ZBA 0258-2025)

Acting Chair Wallner read this agenda item in with agenda item 4.3. See above for the conversation on this application.

Member Spector-Morgan made a motion to grant the variance from Section 28-4-1(e)*Maximum Lot Coverage*/Section 28-4-1(h) *Table of Dimensional Regulations*, to allow for 63.4% of maximum lot coverage at 64 Beacon St where 50% the maximum allowed, because all of the criteria under RSA 674:33 have been met based on the record before the Board, and the Board adopted the applicant's findings as the Board's findings of fact. Alternate Member Perkins seconded. The motion passed with 5 in favor (Monahan, Perkins, Spector-Morgan, Wallner, and Winters) to 0 opposed.

Findings of Fact:

- 1. *The variance will not be contrary to the public interest.* "Granting of the variances will allow for the construction of the proposed garage which will create one additional off-street parking space on the subject parcel this is not contrary to the public interest but rather in support of the public interest. There is no reason to believe that the minor encroachment into the side yward setback would have any impact on the public at large. And, the minor increase in lot coverage, of approximately 24-sf will have no material impact whatsoever on the public."
- 2. *The spirit of the ordinance is observed by granting the variance.* "Granting the variances would not alter the essential character of the neighbor by allowing a one-car garage to be constructed on the subject parcel. It would promote additional off-street parking which is directly within the spirit of the Ordinance."
- 3. *Substantial justice will be done by granting the variance.* "Granting the variances would allow the applicant to proceed with the construction of the garage which is a very appropriate and reasonable use of the land."
- 4. *The values of surrounding properties will not be diminished.* "The majority of the houses in the subject neighborhood, including the subject house, were constructed over 100 years ago before the dimensional standards of the current zoning ordinance were in effect. As a result, the majority of the existing lots in the neighborhood are substandard in terms of lot size, lot frontage, lot coverage and yard areas. It is a very dense neighborhood that does not at all fit within the current dimensional standard requirements of the zoning ordinance. In looking at just the subject lot and its four abutting parcels, the average lot size is approximately 3,500-sf, whereas the minimum lot size requirement in the RN district is 10,000-sf. None of these surrounding lots are in compliance with any of the noted dimensional requirements. The requested variances involve slight increases to existing non-conformities which will have not material impact on the surrounding properties, given the existing nature of the neighborhood."
- 5. *Denial of the variance would result in unnecessary hardship because*: "The subject parcel is an existing, non-conforming lot and is substandard with respect to minimum lot area, minimum lot frontage, minimum front yard, minimum side yard and maximum lot coverage. At only 3,048-

sf in total lot size, it is the smallest lot in a very dense neighborhood of undersized lots. In addition, it is a corner lot which further restricts its usable yard area. For these reasons, it does stand out as unique in comparison to other properties in the area. The dimensional standards imposed by the current Ordinance on such a substandard lot that has existed for over a century creates an unnecessary hardship on the lot. The minimum required side yard setback and the maximum allowable lot coverage of the current RN district are intended to be applied to lots that have a minimum area of 10,000-sf. The subject parcel has only 30% of that minimum lot area, making it impractical and unfair to apply those same dimensional standards to it. It is clear that there is no fair and substantial relationship between the intended purpose of the Ordinance and the specific application on the subject property in this instance, especially considering that the property has existed in harmony with surrounding properties for such a long period of time and that the proposed addition of a onecar garage is more than reasonable."

4.5 Hinckley, Allen and Snyder, LLP, on behalf of Kasada, LLC, requests approval for a variance from Section 28-6-9(b)(1) *Permitted Building Signs*, to permit four wall signs where three wall signs are the maximum allowed, at Tax Map Lot 611Z 38/2, addressed as 287 Loudon Rd, in the Gateway Performance (GWP) District. Not a development of regional impact. (ZBA 0259-2025)

Acting Chair Wallner read agenda items 4.5 and 4.6 into the record at the same time to be discussed as one.

Acting Chair Wallner asked Alternate Member Mark Davie to sit in on this case.

Christine Dieter (650 Elm St, Manchester), Michelle Robinson (650 Elm St, Manchester), and Jennifer Squires (650 Elm St, Manchester) are present to represent this application. Ms. Dieter stated this is a project they have seen before. Ms. Dieter stated they were here last year seeking a parking variance, which was granted. They have gone to Planning Board for site plan approval. They are here tonight seeking two variances with respect to signage. One is to have four wall signs, where only three are permitted. The second is to have 123 square feet of signage, which is more than the maximum allowed.

Ms. Robinson stated they provided renderings of the building that will be developed. The signs they are here for tonight are the oval signs that say Raising Cane's.

Member Monahan asked if this is a free-standing building that is not yet constructed.

Ms. Dieter stated correct.

Ms. Robinson stated they are just wrapping up the permitting process. Ms. Robinson provided an overall plan of the building so they can see the relationship primarily to Loudon Rd. The patio is 120 feet off the road. They are set back and the building is small. Ms. Robinson noted she provided some views from google maps showing the approach. The third image that is taken from inside the current parking lot. They are set back off the road. The grassy knoll is where the building will be located. There is a view from Old Loudon Rd. The second to last page is the elevations. They are here tonight for four signs – one on each elevation. Ms. Robinson stated the four signs are important to them. It is consistent with their brand. They are new to the market and would like to have a full complement of signage. The one on the right is the entry. The one on the back is visible from Old Loudon Rd. The one on the left is by the drive-thru to help orient people as they are coming from Loudon Rd. When you leave Raising Caines you go to the left or the right. They feel it is important to help orient people to the building.

Ms. Dieter read out loud the five variance criteria that were submitted with the application.

Ms. Robinson noted for reference the Aldi sign is 76 square feet. There are two of those on their entrance. That is 152 square feet. Ms. Robinson does not feel they are contrary to the intent and spirit of

the ordinance.

Member Winters wanted to know how many signs Aldi has.

Ms. Robinson stated two.

Acting Chair Wallner asked for the combined square footage.

Ms. Robinson stated 152.

Member Spector-Morgan asked if they have one on the back of the building and if the signs are lit.

Ms. Robinson answered yes.

Member Spector-Morgan asked if all four signs are proposed to be illuminated.

Ms. Robinson stated yes.

Member Winters asked if this signage is separate from the directory sign.

Ms. Dieter confirmed that to be the case.

Member Winters asked if the number of signs is based on the total lot or each condo land unit.

Member Spector-Morgan stated it is based on each individual building.

Member Winters asked if they have their own requirement that only applies to their building.

Ms. Dieter stated that is right.

Ms. Skinner stated freestanding signs are different.

Member Winters asked if they are not asking for freestanding signs.

Ms. Dieter answered that is correct.

Ms. Robinson stated it is existing today and they will submit a permit to add a Raising Cane's.

Acting Chair Wallner asked if they are working on one frontage or two.

Member Spector-Morgan stated it is based on the building.

Ms. Skinner stated the building only has frontage on one street.

Member Monahan noted they have made some accommodation for buildings that have an entrance on the front and the back.

Alternate Member Perkins stated this does not have a back entrance.

Member Winters noted it has road visibility.

Member Spector-Morgan asked if there is an approved residential development in the area.

Ms. Skinner stated there is something that was approved at 33 Old Loudon Rd and has not been

constructed.

Member Monahan stated he is struggling to get to yes on four signs, noting that he does not feel signage on the Old Loudon Rd side is appropriate because there is no entrance there and it could be confusing. He further noted it is not necessary for public safety or providing information on access. It is not in keeping with the neighborhood, and he does not think any of the other buildings on Loudon Rd have signage on the full building.

Ms. Robinson stated down from them is a strip center with a T-Mobile and Vision Works. Ms. Robinson noted they both have signs on the front and Loudon Rd.

Member Monahan asked if they have signs that face Old Loudon Rd.

Ms. Robinson answer yes.

Member Spector-Morgan stated it looks like they do but she thinks that is for deliveries.

Ms. Skinner stated the number of signs is not based on the amount of frontage. Each building is allowed a maximum of three building signs. They are requesting a variance for the fourth sign.

Ms. Robinson stated if you are on Old Loudon Rd you will be able to see the building to orient yourself to get off of Old Loudon Rd to get to Loudon Rd.

Member Spector-Morgan noted if you are driving on Loudon Rd either way you will see the sign, and stated she is with Member Monahan on not getting to a yes on the back sign.

Ms. Robinson asked if having that sign be not lit would help.

Member Spector-Morgan stated that would be better.

Alternate Member Perkins noted the other strip mall signs mentioned only have a front and back. This one you will be able to see it from the sides.

Member Spector-Morgan does not have an issue with the square footage variance.

Ms. Skinner mentioned that the project approved for 33 Old Loudon Rd is for elderly housing.

Member Spector-Morgan asked if it will be directly behind the Raising Cain's.

Ms. Skinner stated it will be directly behind it.

Acting Chair Wallner asked if there is any member of the audience that would like to speak in favor of or opposed to this application, and with no member of the audience wishing to speak on this application asked staff for comment. Ms. Skinner had no comments. Acting Chair Wallner closed the public hearing and looked for discussion from the Board.

Acting Chair Wallner asked to take each variance separately. Acting Chair Wallner asked to start with the variance to allow four signs first.

Member Spector-Morgan made a motion to <u>deny</u> the variance request from Section 28-6-9(b)(1) *Permitted Building Signs*, because evidence was not provided showing that all the criteria under RSA 674:33 have been met. Specifically, the following criteria are not met for the following reasons: The fourth sign would alter the character of the neighborhood. While there are a couple signs on the back of the larger plaza with T-Mobile and Vision Works, the other stores in that plaza do not appear to have rear signs and they are not lit. Aldi does not have a rear sign. There is no entrance to this property from Old Loudon Rd. A sign on that side is neither necessary nor would it be appropriate. It might be distracting and confusing for drivers. Plus given that it abuts a residential neighborhood and there are additional residences going in it would be distracting. It is not consistent with the neighborhood. They have three signs and they can choose where to put them. It will not diminish surrounding property values. There is a gain to the general public by denying the fourth sign and keeping it consistent with the neighborhood off Old Loudon Rd as residential and not commercial. There is not a hardship. It is a freestanding building that can have three signs. They will be able to see the building signage from either direction. Member Monahan seconded.

Discussion

Member Winters noted they can put signs on the Old Loudon Rd side. In the narrative they expressed a desire to have a sign on each wall.

The motion passed 5 in favor (Davie, Monahan, Spector-Morgan, Wallner, and Winters) to 0 opposed.

4.6 Hinckley, Allen and Snyder, LLP, on behalf of Kasada, LLC, requests approval for a variance from Section 28-6-9(b)(1)(a) an area equal to one square foot per linear foot of building frontage, to permit 123 feet of signage where 58.5 feet is the maximum allowed, at Tax Map 611Z 38/2, addressed as 287 Loudon Rd, in the Gateway Performance (GWP) District. Not a development of regional impact. (ZBA 0261-2025)

Acting Chair Wallner read agenda items 4.5 and 4.6 into the record at the same time to be discussed as one.

Acting Chair Wallner asked Alternate Member Mark Davie to sit in on this case.

Member Spector-Morgan asked for the square footage for each sign.

Ms. Robinson stated 30.75.

Member Winters stated they asked for 123 and they are allowed 50.5.

Alternate Member Perkins noted for the three signs it would be 92.25 where only 58.5 feet is allowed and if it has to be a straight denial or approval.

Ms. Skinner stated they can approve with conditions.

Alternate Member Perkins noted Aldi has two signs totaling 150 square feet.

Member Winters stated he would be inclined to approve it.

Acting Chair Wallner noted the Board never gave the applicant a chance to rebut.

Ms. Dieter noted if they look at the logo shape, it is oval and the Aldi sign is a square. Ms. Dieter stated the calculations for most of the signs are based on a square. Ms. Dieter noted the sign area of the oval is 24.14.

Member Spector-Morgan asked if the Board was to give them 123 square feet for three signs if that would work for them.

Ms. Dieter answered yes.

Member Winters made a motion to grant the variance from Section 28-6-9(b)(1)(a) an area equal to one square foot per linear foot of building frontage, to allow for 123 feet of signage at 287 Loudon Rd where 58.5 feet is the maximum allowed, because all of the criteria under RSA 674:33 have been met based on the record before us, and I move to adopt the applicant's proposed findings as the Board's findings of fact. Member Monahan seconded.

Discussion

Member Monahan noted this is a shared curb cut for this property, and it adds to driver safety to find the way around.

The motion passed with 5 in favor (Davie, Monahan, Spector-Morgan, Wallner, and Winters) to 0 opposed.

Findings of Fact:

- 1. The variance will not be contrary to the public interest. "A variance is contrary to the public interest if "it unduly and in a marked degree conflicts with an ordinance such that it violates the ordinance's basic zoning objectives." Farrar v. City of Keene, 158 N.H. 684, 691 (2009) (internal quotations omitted). In determining whether a variance would violate basic zoning objectives, the Board should examine whether the variance would alter the essential character of the locality, or whether the granting of the variance would threaten public health, safety or welfare. Id. The variance requested here will not alter the essential character of the locality. The proposed use is consistent with and in harmony with the neighborhood. The surrounding area is commercial and contains several restaurants of a similar nature and character to Raising Cane's Chicken Fingers. Many of the surrounding restaurants, when viewed from Loudon Road, would have signage indistinguishable in size and number to what the Applicant has proposed. The variance is consistent with the purpose of the GWP District to provide for well-designed, largescale commercial development, including restaurants. Nor will the variance threaten the public health, safety, or welfare. Outside of the variances requested, the proposed signage complies with all requirements of the Concord Zoning Ordinance, including illumination and flashing requirements which, if not complied with, could pose a threat to public health, safety, and welfare. The proposed wall signage will not impact the health, safety, or welfare of the public."
- 2. The spirit of the ordinance is observed by granting the variance. "Our Supreme Court has determined that the requirement that a variance not be contrary to the public interest "is co-extensive and related to the requirement that a variance be consistent with the spirit of the ordinance." Chester Rod & Gun Club v. Town of Chester, 152 N.H. 577, 580 (2005). "The public interest is protected by standards which prohibit the granting of a variance inconsistent with the purpose and intent of the ordinance, which require that variances be consistent with the spirit of the ordinance, or which permit only variances that are in the public interest." Id. As such, this criterion overlaps with the public interest requirement. The Gateway Performance District is established "to provide for well designed, large scale commercial development along arterial streets at entrances to the City." See Zoning Ordinance § 28-2-2(b)(11). The district is intended to be "predominantly commercial" and include "both individual and mixed use developments of retail, restaurant, service and office uses." Id. This proposed development fits squarely within the purpose of the GWP District, and the variance will help further and preserve the spirit of the ordinance."
- 3. *Substantial justice will be done by granting the variance.* "Substantial justice is done where granting a variance will not cause harm to the general public that outweighs the benefit to the applicant. See Malachy Glen Associates v. Town of Chichester, 155 N.H. 102, 109 (2007). That is clearly the case here. Granting this variance will cause no harm to the general public.

Instead, doing so will facilitate bringing a highly desirable and popular restaurant to Concord's downtown. Likewise, the benefit of the variance to the Applicant is substantial because it will allow a successful business operator to expand into southern New Hampshire, generate new business activity, and better align with the Applicant's specific business model."

- 4. *The values of surrounding properties will not be diminished.* "Granting the variance will not diminish surrounding property values. The proposed use of the Property is expressly allowed at this location and is surrounded by other commercial uses. The development will draw new commercial traffic to the area, which likely will support other businesses as well and positively affect surrounding property values. Increasing the total sign area will have no off-site impacts and will not diminish the value of surrounding properties."
- 5. Denial of the variance would result in unnecessary hardship because: "The Property is unique in several respects. First, the Property consists of three land condominiums, which must share the access points to Loudon Road. Because the access points are at the far ends of the Property, interior traffic must be able to flow the entire length of the Property, increasing the need for more and larger signage at the interior of the site. The southern entrance to the Property is at a signalized intersection on Loudon Road which uniquely provides access to both the Property and to the adjacent shopping center at 273 Loudon Road. Therefore, the access to the Property is configured in such a way that potential customers will view the building from all four sides with frequency – three sides from Loudon Road, and one side from the actual access road onto the Property. Additionally, the irregular shape of the lot creates numerous setback requirements that further limit the areas where signage could be displayed and the distance from the street to the building, requiring larger signs for visibility to passing traffic. These physical challenges on the Property make it uniquely adversely affected by the signage requirements of the Concord Zoning Ordinance. The general public purpose of the signage requirements is to maintain and enhance the appearance and aesthetic environment of the City, particularly along the highway corridors leading into the City. In this case, the Applicant's extensive experience indicates that the proposed signage will have no impact on the aesthetic environment of the City. With respect to the total sign area, these signs are of a similar size and shape as other signs in the surrounding area and do not have any negative impact on the appearance and aesthetic of the surrounding environment. There is no substantial relationship between the general public purposes of the ordinance provision noted above and the specific application of those provisions to the Property. The proposed project is consistent with those purposes and objectives. A proposed project "is presumed to be reasonable if it is a permitted use under the Town's applicable zoning ordinance." Malachy, 155 N.H. at 107. Wall signage such as the signage proposed by the Applicant is allowed in the GWP district, and the signs are not abnormally large or bright compared to signage for other businesses in the surrounding area. For reasons explained above, the proposed use is not only reasonable; it is both appropriate and desirable for this location. It is consistent with the goals and objectives of the GWP District and will contribute to the development of the Property in a manner both functional and attractive.
- 4.7 Kevin Cheney, on behalf Parish Hill Properties, LLC, requests approval for a variance from Section 28-4-1(d)(3) Side Yard/Section 28-4-1(h) Table of Dimensional Regulations, to permit a 30-foot side yard on both sides where 40 feet is the minimum requirement, at Tax Map 52Z 16, addressed as 83 W Parrish Rd, in the Open Space Residential (RO) District. (ZBA 0260-2025)

Acting Chair Wallner asked for Alternate Member Perkins to sit in on this case.

Kevin Cheney (83 West Parish Rd, Concord) stated he is the builder for this house and is seeking a variance for the side setbacks. Mr. Cheney stated the front section of the property is wet. Mr. Cheney stated the incline happens when right off the road. Mr. Cheney stated the property will be hard to build and almost offered a front walkout house. It will be tall from the road, which is not like anything in the neighborhood. Mr. Cheney noted houses in the neighborhood are country-like houses. Mr. Cheney wants to build on the far back of the property where it is a little more level. This property narrows in at

300 feet and again at 110 feet. Mr. Cheney wants to have house on westerly side to be out of view of the neighbor.

Alternate Member Perkins asked if it will stick out behind the other two houses.

Mr. Cheney noted to stay within the neighborhood he is looking to do a farm country house. Mr. Cheney does not want to do a small box house. Mr. Cheney wants to keep with the neighborhood. Mr. Cheney pointed out to the Board where the house would fit without a variance.

Member Winters asked for Mr. Cheney to show where the house would fit without the variance.

Alternate Member Perkins noted the yellow is where it could go and the purple is where he wants to put the house.

Mr. Cheney stated he would like to keep it out of the view of all of the neighbors.

Member Winters noted where he is putting the house is at the narrowest portion of the lot.

Mr. Cheney stated that is where the best view is and the slope of the yard he does not want to have an eight-foot fill if he moved the house. Mr. Cheney noted he is trying to keep everything natural. He pointed out on the property where there are stone walls.

Alternate Member Perkins asked about the size of the lot.

Mr. Cheney stated five acres.

Member Monahan asked about the front of the property being wet and why not put the house there.

Mr. Cheney stated it is not wet. However, all of the drainage from the neighbors' yards come to one section.

Member Winters asked if Mr. Cheney read the letter from the abutter.

Mr. Cheney said yes.

Member Winters asked if he had a response.

Mr. Cheney stated picture two has the property line and shows where he wants to put the house. Mr. Cheney stated from closest point to closest point is 160 feet. Mr. Cheney does not feel that is close at all in his opinion. Mr. Cheney noted it is 110 feet to the property line and then 50 or so to her front porch.

Member Winters asked if he complied with the setbacks would he be closer to the abutters.

Mr. Cheney noted this house is in keeping with the neighborhood and a farmhouse with the views and stone walls.

Member Winters asked for the direction of the beautiful view.

Mr. Cheney noted he did remove some trees for her on her property. Mr. Cheney stated in order to build the house he needs a variance.

Acting Chair Wallner asked if there is anyone in the audience that wishes to speak in favor of this application.

Joseph Kennard (85 West Parish Rd, Concord) stated he is opposed to the 30-foot setback.

Acting Chair Wallner asked if there is anyone in the audience that would like to speak in opposition.

Kaylee Howard (81 West Parish Rd, Concord) stated she submitted a letter. Ms. Howard passed pictures to the Board. Ms. Howard stated she just purchased her property last month. Ms. Howard stated she knew Kevin before this. Ms. Howard noted the proposed location of the house is well over the setback. Ms. Howard noted the further to the right that he builds especially close to her property will block the view. Ms. Howard stated if you put a hand in front of your face you cannot see around it. If it is further away at a lower elevation there is less of a change of it obstructing. Additionally, she became concerned when he cleared the side yard. If you look to the right of the cabin, you can see the property line angles. Ms. Howard stated where he is proposing to put the house it is now their backyard. Ms. Howard noted it would be right next to her house. Ms. Howard stated Mr. Cheney removed trees for her property. Ms. Howard noted on the 2014 boundary line plan submitted with the materials for the application.

Alternate Member Perkins asked if about a specific building being on her property

Ms. Howard stated that is a neighbor.

Alternate Member Perkins asked if that is on the other side.

Ms. Howard answered yes, they applied for a variance to build that structure. Ms. Howard noted the more the house is set back, it does protrude outward. Ms. Howard pointed out the direction of the view. Ms. Howard does not want their backyard to be in her front yard. Ms. Howard does not feel he can meet the hardship requirement because he has a buildable area. Ms. Howard noted it is a little damp but it is not wetlands. Ms. Howard stated the third picture was taken from where Mr. Cheney's preferred location is. The second picture she walked up 35 feet and it does not change the view. Ms. Howard noted the house will still have a beautiful view. Ms. Howard noted this is her private residence and Mr. Cheney is building for resale.

Alternate Member Perkins asked if the property is sloping.

Ms. Howard stated it slopes a little bit but it is not significant.

Member Monahan asked to go back to the view conversation.

Ms. Howard stated the best view from this angle is off of the porch.

Acting Chair Wallner stated where he is proposing to place the house, he does not think that will block the view of the whole structure. Acting Chair Wallner noted Mr. Cheney would be blocking the view to the left of these properties.

Ms. Howard stated from her house the view over to the left.

Acting Chair Wallner asked where house is on the map.

Ms. Howard stated Kearsarge is to the left. Ms. Howard noted she is not sure if Mr. Cheney met any of the requirements. Ms. Howard feels it would harm her property value. Ms. Howard does not think Mr. Cheney's rights outside of the permitted area outweigh her rights as an abutter with an existing home. Ms. Howard noted he has no hardship because he has a buildable area.

Acting Chair Wallner asked if there is any member of the audience that would like to speak in opposition to this, and with no member of the audience wishing to speak on this application asked staff

for any comment. Ms. Skinner had no comments. Acting Chair Wallner asked Mr. Cheney back to discuss the application.

Mr. Cheney stated in one of the pictures you can see the proposed house number one. The view from the front of the house and she is back another 20 feet. Mr. Cheney does not think the height of the house will not affect the view. Mr. Cheney noted if he was to move the house down she will have the whole house blocking the view. Mr. Cheney does not want to move it down the hill to block the neighbors. Mr. Cheney is a contractor and knows the outcome of the job if he goes down the sloped front yard if he moves 60 feet down.

Member Winters asked where the alternative location is in case the variance is denied.

Mr. Cheney noted it will be close to a neighbor.

Alternate Member Perkins noted the closer to the road there might be more distance from her house to the proposed house. It looks like it will put more of the house in the way of the view to the left.

Mr. Cheney stated picture six is a view of the neighbor's house where the house would fit without a variance.

Member Winters asked if the purple is what he is asking for now.

Mr. Cheney answered yes, between the two setbacks it is 54 feet.

Member Winters asked why the house cannot be turned.

Mr. Cheney stated it will not fit.

Member Winters suggested to rotate it 90 degrees.

Mr. Cheney stated it would lose the first-floor view.

Alternate Member Perkins noted it would hurt the value.

Member Winters asked if he would move it up as far as you can go to meet the setback. Mr. Winters noted it would be a less ideal setting and construction wise.

Mr. Cheney stated it is a 10-foot drop.

Member Winters asked from the papers it stated the main reason for the variance is the view.

Member Winters asked from the neighbors the way he is saying the setback is 40 feet and you are asking to be within 30 feet. Member Winters asked for an exact measurement from the drawing.

Mr. Cheney asked to pull up the septic plan. Mr. Cheney noted on the plan you can see the setbacks. Mr. Cheney noted the front corner is nine feet, and the back corner is 10 feet on the right side due to the angle.

Alternate Member Perkins asked if she is staring up the lot to the house the right side is 10 feet over the setback.

Mr. Cheney stated the left side is nine feet in the front and the back.

Acting Chair Wallner closed the public hearing and opened for discussion with the Board.

Member Winters stated the view by the applicant's admission is one of the main reasons he wants to put it there. Member Winters noted as the neighbor said it is not relevant to the setback request. It has to do with why it is a hardship to allow it. The setback requirements in general have to do with allowing space within the RO. Member Winters is not seeing this is a serious setback violation at the furthest point it is ten feet. Mr. Winters noted it is a minor infringement. Mr. Winters stated he did not feel there was a compelling case as to why he did not move the house.

Member Monahan stated it is tough to make a case for perspectives on views. Member Monahan noted he has to look at the facts and does not see a compelling reason why there is a hardship on the setback.

Alternate Member Perkins sees some of the hardship with 10-foot elevation is not huge and can see why he would not want to construct it in the elevation and in the front, it is wet. Alternate Member Perkins sympathizes with the neighbor because when she looks out her back door she is staring at her neighbor's house. Alternate Member Perkins noted if he moves it forward will be more in her view than he would be back there. Alternate Member Perkins noted the decks are 100 plus feet apart and feels the view will be more constricted if he moves it forward. Alternate Member Perkins stated she is inclined to say yes to it but she is flexible. Alternate Member Perkins noted she is not sure how far the elevation hardship goes up the lot to require it to be this far back.

Member Spector-Morgan stated she does not care about the views as there is a perfectly good place to build the home. Member Spector-Morgan noted there is no hardship. Member Spector-Morgan stated she cannot vote for this variance.

Acting Chair Wallner stated he agrees with Alternate Member Perkins that the view would be further exacerbated if you put it where he can put it. Acting Chair Wallner also does not see a hardship.

Member Winters stated he kind of agrees with Alternate Member Perkins in the sense this may not comply with a hardship.

Member Perkins noted it is an awkward lot.

Member Spector-Morgan made a motion to <u>deny</u> the variance request from Section 28-4-1(d)(3) *Side Yard Setbacks/Section 28-4-1(h) Table of Dimensional Regulations*, as there is no hardship. There is a legal, reasonable, and adequate area that complies with setbacks. Therefore, there is no unnecessary hardship. Member Winters seconded. The motion passed with 5 in favor (Monahan, Perkins, Spector-Morgan, Wallner, and Winters) to 0 opposed.

4.8 Advantage Signs, on behalf of Roman Catholic Bishop of Manchester, requests approval for a variance from Section 28-6-9(b)(1)(a) and (b) *Permitted Building Signs*, to permit 60 square feet of signage where 38 square feet is the maximum allowed, at 67 S State St, in the Urban Transitional (UT) District. Not a development of regional impact. (ZBA 0262-2025)

Acting Chair Wallner asked Alternate Member Mark Davie to sit in on this case.

Jonathan Halle (142 West Parish Rd, Concord) is present to represent this application. Mr. Halle noted the lettering about the dedication will come off. It is just Christ the King Food Pantry Theresa A. Downing Memorial Building. The way this was measured and the way staff looked at it this is a piece of PVC trim mounted to the building with acrylic letters. If you take Christ the King Food Pantry eight inches plus four and the space between another four they are a little less than 20 square feet of sign where 36 is allowed. It is an issue of the PVC trim board in the back being considered the sign, which is over the thirty-six square feet.

Member Monahan asked where the public access will be located.

Mr. Halle said on State St.

Member Monahan asked if this is facing State St.

Mr. Halle said facing State St. Mr. Halle stated the welcome sign over the door to the right has a small porch that steps back about 20 feet. Mr. Halle stated there is another little sign in the back that says donations drop off. There is a raised porch for people to leave things out of the weather.

Member Monahan asked if that is in the back of the parking lot.

Mr. Halle answered yes.

Member Winters asked if this is the building they are constructing now.

Mr. Halle answered yes.

Alternate Member Perkins stated this received a large donation for the building.

Member Spector-Morgan asked if signage is determined by building, not lot.

Ms. Skinner stated they can have three signs per building, and the total square footage of the three signs is determined by the building's frontage.

Member Winters asked if you get a variance to build a building then they inherently put signage on it.

Member Spector-Morgan noted because it is a tiny building it gets a tiny amount of square footage for signage.

Ms. Skinner answered correct, because it does not have much building frontage.

Mr. Halle stated when the building was approved there was a lot consolidation of eight or nine lots that were consolidated into one lot.

Ms. Skinner stated it is irrelevant and immaterial because it is based on building frontage, not lot frontage. This building has a small amount of building frontage.

Acting Chair Wallner asked if there is any member of the audience that would like to speak in favor of or opposed to this application, and with no member of the audience wishing to speak on this application asked staff for any comment. Ms. Skinner had no comments. Acting Chair Wallner closed the public hearing and looked for discussion from the Board.

Member Winters stated he is good.

Alternate Member Perkins stated she is good.

Ms. Spector-Morgan made a motion to **grant the variance from Section 28-6-9(b)(1)(a) and (b) Permitted Building Signs**, to permit 60 square feet of signage where 38 square feet is the maximum allowed, at 67 S State St, because all of the criteria under RSA 674:33 have been met based on the record before us, because this variance will not be contrary to the public interest or spirit of the ordinance, because it will not alter the essential character of the neighborhood or be detrimental to the public safety, health or welfare, it will not diminish surrounding property values, there is no gain to the public in denying the variance, the hardship is the meager amount of signage that is permitted for this small building, and there is nothing superfluous about this signage. Member Monahan seconded and added to the finding of fact that it is a complex campus with multiple things associated with the parish and having proper signage will help the public access. The motion passed with 5 in favor (Davie, Monahan, Spector-Morgan, Wallner, and Winters) to 0 opposed.

5. Review and acceptance of Minutes from March 5, 2025

Member Winters moved, seconded by Alternate Member Perkins, to approve the meeting minutes from March 5, 2025, as written. The Board voted 6 in favor (Davie, Monahan, Perkins, Spector-Morgan, Wallner, and Winters) to 0 opposed. The motion passed unanimously.

6. Any other business that may legally come before the Board

7. Adjourn

On a motion made by Member Monahan, seconded by Member Spector-Morgan, the Board unanimously voted 6 in favor (Davie, Monahan, Perkins, Spector-Morgan, Wallner, and Winters) to 0 opposed to adjourn at 7:53 p.m.

Respectfully submitted, *Krista Tremblay* Krista Tremblay Administrative Technician III